Tuesday, 13 September 2022

## **PLANNING COMMITTEE**

A meeting of **Planning Committee** will be held on

Thursday, 22 September 2022

commencing at 5.30 pm

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR

#### **Members of the Committee**

Councillor Pentney (Chairman)

Councillor Dart
Councillor Dudley (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Hill
Councillor Kennedy

Councillor Barbara Lewis

Councillor Manning

Councillor Mills

Councillor Jacqueline Thomas

## **Together Torbay will thrive**

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your <u>iPad</u>, <u>Android Device</u> or <u>Blackberry Playbook</u>. For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or language please contact:

Governance Support, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk

## PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA

## 1. Apologies for absence

To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any changes to the membership of the Committee.

2. Minutes (Pages 4 - 7)

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meetings of the Planning Committee held on 13 and 27 June 2022.

#### 3. Disclosure of Interests

(a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of items on this agenda.

**For reference:** Having declared their non pecuniary interest members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the matter in question. A completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.

(b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on this agenda.

For reference: Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the item. However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter. A completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.

(**Please Note:** If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.)

#### 4. Urgent Items

To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent.

### 5. 8 Tor Close, Paignton, TQ4 6LB P/2022/0625

(Pages 8 - 33)

Formation of side and rear extension and fenestration changes to existing dwelling and construction of new dwelling in adjacent garden with associated works.

Please note this report has been updated.

# 6. Splashdown Quay West Water Park, Tanners Road, Paignton TQ4 6LN P/2021/1093

(Pages 34 - 57)

Formation of leisure facilities including waterslides, and indoor play and climbing centre. Relocation of reception area. Formation of car park and access to staff car parking spaces and railway. Alterations to arcade/cafe/kiosk building and refuse area. Re-landscaping.

Altered boundary treatments and entrance arrangements.

## 7. Public speaking

If you wish to speak on any applications shown on this agenda, please contact Governance Support on 207087 or email <a href="mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk">governance.support@torbay.gov.uk</a> before 11 am on the day of the meeting.

We are trialling hybrid meeting arrangements to give registered speakers the opportunity to either attend the meeting in person to give their views or to attend the meeting remotely via Zoom. If you would like to attend the meeting remotely to speak you will be provided with a Zoom link to join the meeting. We also ask that you provide a copy of your speech to <a href="mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk">governance.support@torbay.gov.uk</a>, before 11 am on the day of the meeting, so that the Clerk will be able to continue to read out your speech if you lose connection or cannot be heard in the physical meeting. Remote attendees who lose connection may still be able to follow the meeting via the live stream on the Council's YouTube channel.

Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee will also be able to join the meeting via Zoom and must use their raise hand function to declare any interests.

#### 8. Site visits

If Members consider that site visits are required on any of the applications they are requested to let Governance Support know by noon on Friday, 16 September 2022. Site visits will then take place prior to the meeting of the Committee at a time to be notified.

#### **Meeting Attendance**

Please note that whilst the Council is no longer implementing Covid-19 secure arrangements attendees are encouraged to sit with space in between other people. Windows will be kept open to ensure good ventilation and therefore attendees are recommended to wear suitable clothing.

If you have symptoms, including runny nose, sore throat, fever, new continuous cough and loss of taste and smell please do not come to the meeting.

#### **Live Streaming**

To encourage more people to engage in our public meetings the Council is trialling live streaming our Planning Committee meetings on our YouTube channel in addition to recording the meetings and publishing the recording on our website. To watch the meeting live please visit <a href="https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil">https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil</a>.

## **Minutes of the Planning Committee**

13 June 2022

-: Present :-

Councillors Steve Darling, Dudley (Vice-Chair, in the Chair), Hill, Barbara Lewis, Chris Lewis, Manning and Mills

## 1. Apologies for absence

It was reported that, in accordance with the wishes of the Liberal Democrat Group and Conservative Group, the Membership of the Committee had been amended to include Councillors Steve Darling and Chris Lewis instead of Councillors Pentney and Jacqueline Thomas respectively.

Councillor Manning had also replaced Councillor Brown as a permanent member of the Committee.

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Dart and Kennedy.

As apologies had been received from the Chairman Councillor Pentney, the meeting was Chaired by Councillor Dudley, the Vice-Chairman.

#### 2. Minutes

The Chairman deferred this item to the next meeting.

#### 3. Shoalstone Pool, Berry Head Road Brixham, TQ5 9FT P/2021/0942

The Committee considered an application for the removal of a seating shelter and installation of 21 beach huts and hardstanding area. Creation of two external seating areas to serve 'Shoals' café on the roof of the café and on the green.

Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a virtual site visit and written representations were available on the Council's Website.

At the meeting Jessica Stock, Chair of Shoalstone Pool CIC, addressed the Committee in support of the application.

#### Resolved:

Approve subject to the conditions set out in the submitted report with the following amended condition 5 as detailed by the Planning Officer at the meeting:

#### Condition 5.

Prior to commencement of works to the restaurant roof top and the proposed green level seating areas hereby permitted, details of the relevant materials of the area surfaces, railings, boundary fences, seating and table furniture and the number of covers for each respective area shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall take place in accordance with the approved details prior to the development to which it relates being brought into use and shall be retained as such for the lifetime of the development. The approved number of covers shall not be exceeded at any time.

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development within the Conservation Area and setting of Listed buildings and the Urban Landscape Protected area further to Policies SS10, HE1, DE1 and C5 of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy BH5 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan.

## 4. Torbay Velopark, Penwill Way, Paignton P/2021/1091

The Committee considered an application for construction of a cyclocross course with four structural features, cycling pump track and relocation of existing storage containers.

Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a virtual site visit and written representations were available on the Council's Website.

#### Resolved:

Approve subject to the conditions set out in the submitted report.

Chairman

## **Minutes of the Planning Committee**

27 June 2022

-: Present :-

Councillor Pentney (Chairman)

Councillors Brooks, Dudley (Vice-Chair), Kennedy, Barbara Lewis, Manning, Stockman and Jacqueline Thomas

## 5. Apologies for absence

It was reported that, in accordance with the wishes of the Independent Group and the Conservative Group, the membership of the Committee had been amended for this meeting by including Councillors Stockman and Brooks instead of Councillors Mills and Hill respectively.

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Dart.

## 6. Land at Upton Manor Farm Camp Site, St Mary's Road, Brixham TQ5 9QH - P/2021/0890

The Committee considered an application for the construction of 130 residential dwellings with access roads, infrastructure, and public open space, the proposal included the demolition of existing buildings on the site. The application was accompanied by an Environmental Statement. The application was a departure from the Local Plan. The planning application was in outline with access, layout, scale and landscaping to be determined at this stage and with appearance to be determined at reserved matters stage.

Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a site visit and written representations were published on the Council's website. At the meeting Elaine Waugh, Philip James Trayhorn, and Brian Harland addressed the Committee against the application. Brixham Town Councillor David Blackmore addressed the Committee against the application.

In accordance with Standing Order B4.1, Councillors Brown and Morey addressed the meeting on the application.

At the meeting, the Legal Officer to the Committee referred to a late representation from the Applicants requesting an adjournment of the meeting. The Officer summarised the letter and advised the Committee that the officers considered that the application had been properly dealt with and there was no reason for an adjournment of the meeting.

Resolved (unanimously):

That planning permission be refused for the reasons set out in the submitted report with the addition of the following:

- 1) Loss of tourism.
- 2) The lack of consideration of the viability of the caravan site.
- 3) Loss of employment.
- 4) Consideration of Torbay policies TO1 and TO2 and policies TO1, E6 and E7 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan.
- 5) The lack of an HRA.

The final drafting of reasons for refusal and addressing any material considerations that, may come to light to be delegated to the Divisional Director for Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency.

(Note: Prior to consideration of the item in Minute 6, Councillor Stockman declared a non-pecuniary interest as she had an historic friendship with the owners and had been involved in the creation of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan and Councillor Brooks declared a non-pecuniary interest as she was a member of the AONB Board.)

Chairman

## **TORBAY COUNCIL**

Addendum to Officer Report - P/2022/0625 - 8 Tor Close, Paignton, TQ4 6LB which can be read in full below.

Additional information for Members/ updated conditions:

## **Ecology/Biodiversity**:

Further to the writing of the officer report, the following consultation responses have been received from Devon County Council's Ecologist:

#### Response received 5/9/22 -

The ecology report and survey were undertaken in June 2021 – this means they are now 14 months in age. CIEEM guidelines on the 'Lifespan of Ecological Reports and Surveys (April 2019)' states that data which is between 12 months and 18 months in age, whilst likely to be valid in most cases, there is the following exception: Where a site may offer existing or new features which could be utilised by a mobile species within a short timeframe. I believe this exception to be applicable in this instance the dwelling could now offer potential bat roosting features that were not present in 2021. The consultant ecologist needs to provide justification in writing that the results of the June 2021 ecology survey remain valid for this current application.

Response received 7/9/22 following the case officer querying if an amended report was required given the application had been amended so that no woks were now proposed to the roof of the existing dwelling and following a Councillor query on the validity of the ecology report -

The comment from the councillor is correct – in this instance the ecology report submitted with the scheme does not relate to the proposals, especially the aspect relating to the creation of a new dwelling, and as I have previously stated the ecology report submitted is also now out of date. However, I do not believe a new ecology report is required in this instance.

I do not believe that there are any ecological show stoppers with this scheme if there are no works to the roof proposed.

South Hams SAC – The site does fall within a sustenance zone for Greater Horseshoe bats associated with the South Hams SAC. Having reviewed site and

aerial photographs, the site is deemed sub-optimal for foraging Greater Horseshoe bats given the urban nature of the site and the high levels of artificial illuminance already present around the site. Therefore impacts to Great Horseshoe Bats and the South Hams SAC can be screened out at this stage.

With regards to impacts to other protected species (i.e. reptiles and nesting birds), we can take a worst case scenario and assume they are present onsite. Impacts to these species can be avoided during construction by certain measures which can be detailed within a conditioned CEMP document.

With regards to Biodiversity Net Gain, the Torbay Council Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing SPD currently requires a contribution of £25 per metre to provide off site habitat enhancement when it can't be provided onsite – can this be secured via a condition or does it need to be provide now so any financial contribution can be secured via a s.106?

## Officer comments on points raised:

Whist it is noted that the ecology report submitted with the application is out of date, given the comments of DCC's Ecologist it is considered that a revised ecology report is not required in this instance given that the works to the roof of the existing dwelling have been removed from the proposal. In line with the consultation comment a construction and ecological management plan (CEMP) condition is recommended to ensure that impacts on protected species are avoided during the construction process. The following additional condition is therefore recommended:

No development (including demolition and ground works or vegetation clearance works) shall take place for the development hereby approved until a Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall be prepared in accordance with specifications in clause 10.2 of BS 42020:2013 (or any superseding British Standard) and shall include the following:

- a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
- b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones".
- c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction.

- d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features. This includes the use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
- e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to monitor works to ensure compliance with the CEMP, and the actions that will be undertaken.
- f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
- g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly competent person.

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period of the development hereby approved.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and to minimise impacts on protected species in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy E8 of the Adopted Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030. These details are required pre-commencement as specified to ensure that biodiversity is not harmed by building operations or vegetation removal.

It is also recommended that condition 9 – Ecology listed at the end of the officer report is amended to ensure that 10% biodiversity net gain can be achieved either via the submission of details, or by an alternative method e.g. via a financial contribution and that adherence to the out of date ecology report is removed as impacts on protected species during the construction process will be covered by the recommended CEMP condition as suggested by the DCC Ecologist. The trigger for implementation relating to any biodiversity related landscaping has been revised to ensure it takes place within an appropriate planting season. Condition 9 is therefore recommended to be altered to the following:

No development shall occur beyond slab level of the new dwelling until a scheme to provide a 10% biodiversity net gain across the application site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. If a 10% biodiversity net gain cannot be achieved, alternative mitigation measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The biodiversity net gain measures or alternative mitigation measures shall be installed/undertaken or secured prior to first occupation of the new dwelling

hereby approved and shall be maintained and retained in perpetuity thereafter.

Any biodiversity net gain measures including planting measures shall be carried out by the end of the first planting and seeding seasons following the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner. Any trees or plants which within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: In the interests of protected species and in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy E8 of the Adopted Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.

## **Additional representation:**

1 additional letter of objection has been received. This does not raise any additional planning considerations.

## Ownership of the site:

A query over the ownership has been raised. The application form states that Mr. Tony Horsey is the applicant and the agent. This has been confirmed as incorrect. A revised application form has been provided with the applicant confirmed as Mrs. Carrie Wells.

## **TORBAY** COUNCIL

Application Site Address	8 Tor Close
''	Paignton
	TQ4 6LB
Proposal	Formation of side and rear extension and
	fenestration changes to existing dwelling and
	construction of new dwelling in adjacent garden with
	associated works.
Application Number	P/2022/0625
Applicant/ Agent	Mr. Tony Horsey
Date Application Valid	16/06/2022
Decision Due date	11/08/2022
Extension of Time Date	16/09/2022
Recommendation	Approval: Subject to;
	The conditions as outlined below with the final drafting of conditions delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency;
	The completion of a Unilateral undertaking legal agreement to secure £95 payment to mitigate the impact of additional recreational pressure on the calcareous grassland at the Berry Head to Sharkham Point component of the South Hams SAC.
	The resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light following Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further planning conditions or obligations.
Reason for Referral to	The Service Manager for Development Management
Planning Committee	has referred the application to the Planning
_	Committee due to the level of public interest in the application.
Planning Case Officer	Verity Clark



### **Site Details**

The site, 8 Tor Close, Paignton, is a two-storey dwelling linked via a garage to 7 Tor Close. The dwelling features a spacious curtilage with garden area located to the rear (east) and side (south). The dwelling benefits from an existing garage and parking area to the front (west) with direct highway access to Tor Close. The remaining western boundary is comprised of a boundary hedge.

The site forms part of the built-up area and is located within a Greater Horseshoe Bat sustenance zone and connectivity zone. The site is also located within 5km of the Berry Head SAC.

## **Description of Development**

The proposal seeks permission for the formation of a single storey side and rear extension and fenestration changes to the existing dwelling in addition to the construction of new dwelling in the side garden with associated works including a new access.

Revised plans were received during the application removing the originally proposed two storey side extension to the host dwelling from the application and substituting it for a single storey extension.

## **Relevant Planning Policy Context**

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on local planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The following development plan policies and material considerations are relevant to this application:

## **Development Plan**

- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 ("The Local Plan")
- The Adopted Brixham Neighbourhood Plan (BNP)

#### **Material Considerations**

- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
- Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
- Published standing Advice
- Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the following advice and representations, planning history, and other matters referred to in this report:

### **Relevant Planning History**

P/2021/1347: Non-Material Amendment relating to application P/2021/0671. Amendments sought: 1) changing from a flat roof front porch to an apex roof 2) two small windows in the kitchen area on the south elevation. Approved 03/02/2022

P/2021/0671: Formation of two storey extension to side. Approved 06/08/2021

P/1982/1161: Extension To Garage. Approved 02/07/1982

#### **Summary of Representations**

At the time of writing 40 objections and 4 letters of support have been received (these are available to read in full online). Issues raised:

## Objections:

- Loss of light
- Out of keeping
- Contrary to Broadsands Village Design Statement
- Contrary to Neighbourhood Plan
- Contrary to NPPF
- Wildlife/ecology
- Trees
- Parking
- Increase in vehicles parked on road
- Access
- Highway safety
- Sets a precedent
- Spacing of properties
- Overdevelopment

- Overlooking/ reduced privacy
- Works to existing dwelling reasonable, new dwelling constitutes overdevelopment
- Visual amenity
- Boundary hedge with 9 Tor Close in shared ownership and therefore cannot be removed – side entrance/ passage cannot be constructed
- Existing dwellings in Tor Close feature reasonably large plots
- No consultation with neighbouring properties
- Increase in development footprint
- Overmassed/ out of proportion
- Building regulations
- Accuracy of plans
- Separation distances
- Development density
- Impact on tourism from housing development
- Noise
- Unnecessary housing

## Support:

- In keeping with surrounding properties
- Torbay has a shortage of suitable family homes
- Objections relating to parking seem unjustified
- Provides housing
- Ample space within plot
- Garage on side separates new build from neighbour
- The windows do not overlook neighbouring properties
- Design
- Trees/ecology
- Parking provision
- Planning history
- Impact on businesses no impact
- Taken on board Neighbourhood Plan

## **Summary of Consultation Responses**

Broadsands, Churston and Galmpton Neighbourhood Forum: Broadsands, Churston and Galmpton Neighbourhood Forum object to the construction of a new dwelling in this planning application. The additional dwelling would be contrary to policy DE1 in the Local Plan and the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan Village Design Statement relating to proportionality. Tor Close is characterised by well spaced villas within moderately spacious plots. Infilling this plot with a 4 bed house would be out of character and detrimental to the street scene.

**The Highway Authority:** The Standing Advice applies to this proposal (<a href="https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/highways/standing-advice/">https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/highways/standing-advice/</a>). If the Development fails to meet the requirements of the HSA, it should be considered as an objection by the Local Highway Authority.

**Drainage Engineer (Torbay Development Agency):** As the development is located in Flood Zone 1 and the developer is proposing to discharge his surface water drainage using soakaways, please use the recently agreed standing advice for this planning application.

#### **South West Water:**

Surface Water Services

The applicant should demonstrate to your LPA that its prospective surface run-off will discharge as high up the hierarchy of drainage options as is reasonably practicable (with evidence that the Run-off Destination Hierarchy has been addressed, and reasoning as to why any preferred disposal route is not reasonably practicable):

- 1. Discharge into the ground (infiltration); or where not reasonably practicable,
- 2. Discharge to a surface waterbody; or where not reasonably practicable,
- 3. Discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; or where not reasonably practicable,
- 4. Discharge to a combined sewer. (Subject to Sewerage Undertaker carrying out capacity evaluation)

Having reviewed the applicant's current information as to proposed surface water disposal for its development, please note that discharge to the public combined sewerage network is not an acceptable proposed method of disposal, in the absence of clear evidence to demonstrate why the preferred methods listed within the Run-off Destination Hierarchy have been discounted by the applicant.

**Green Infrastructure Manager:** From a desktop review of the application the site will require clearance to facilitate the development. The vegetation is of low quality and amenity. No objection is raised from an arboricultural perspective on the removal. If planning consent is granted standard condition for landscaping is to be used.

Natural England: No response received.

#### **Planning Officer Assessment**

#### Key Issues/Material Considerations

- 1. Principle of Development
- 2. Design and Visual Impact
- 3. Residential Amenity
- 4. Highways, Movement and Parking
- 5. Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees
- 6. Flood Risk and Drainage
- 7. Low Carbon Development and Climate Change

#### 1. Principle of Development

The proposal is for the formation of a single storey side and rear extension to the

existing dwelling in addition to fenestration changes, and the formation of a new dwelling within the curtilage of No.8 Tor Close.

In the context of householder development within the built-up area there are no Development Plan policies indicating that the proposal is not acceptable in principle. It is important to note that the point of general principle is subject to broader planning policy considerations and other relevant material considerations, which will be discussed in more detail below.

Policy H1 of the Local Plan states that proposals for new homes within Strategic Delivery Areas, and elsewhere within the built-up area, will be supported subject to consistency with other policies in the Local Plan. It is noted that the Council is currently falling short of its 5-year housing land supply and that the proposal would make a contribution to this shortfall being addressed. As the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development is applicable as required by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states:

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.

For decision-taking this means:

- c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay; or
- d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:
- i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed6; or
- ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Footnote 8: This includes, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as set out in paragraph 74); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the previous three years.

The site is located within the Broadsands Settlement Boundary as defined by Policy E2 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan, which states that subject to compliance with the other policies of the Neighbourhood Plan, proposals for sustainable developments within settlement boundaries will be supported where developments demonstrate good design and follow the guidance in the relevant Design Statement as per Policy BH5 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan.

This broad position is subject to wider policy considerations that are relevant to the development proposal.

## 2. Design and Visual Impact

Paragraph 126 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. In addition, paragraph 134 states that 'development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design and government guidance on design'. Policy DE1 of the Local Plan states that proposals will be assessed against a range of criteria relating to their function, visual appeal, and quality of public space. Policy BH5 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan states that all new development should demonstrate good quality design and respect the character and appearance of the surrounding area. Policy BH6 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan provides design guidance in relation to roofscape and dormer management that would also be applicable for new dwellings.

The proposal is for the formation of a single storey side and rear extension to the existing dwelling alongside fenestration changes and the removal of a rear balcony and the formation of a new dwelling within the curtilage of No.8 Tor Close. Revised plans were received during the course of the application reducing the originally proposed two storey side extension to a single storey extension following concerns raised by the Officer.

The proposed single storey extensions to the existing dwelling would appear as subservient additions. The proposed extensions and alterations, including replacement white UPVC windows and doors to the existing dwelling would maintain the dwelling's characteristics and would remain in keeping with the local area and streetscene. The size, scale and design of these proposals is therefore considered to be acceptable.

Tor Close is primarily characterised by large detached properties set within generous plots. A large number of these have been extended with single storey elements extending to side boundaries however most are softened with planting and boundary hedges. The result is a spacious characteristic with gaps in the streetscene. The Broadsands Village Design Statement which is referred to in the Brixham Neighbourhood Plan identifies Tor Close from section 5.2. Paragraph 5.2.8 states:

Any new development by builders or individuals in this area should maintain or echo similar qualities by ensuring the maintenance of:

• Proportionality. Roof height (one or two storey only so as not impact adversely the views of neighbours which are a feature of the area), footprint on plot (retaining an air of spaciousness within the plot), low massing of development (individual dwellings, not multiple unit buildings).

The proposal seeks to subdivide the plot to form a new dwelling. Concerns were raised with the proposal originally submitted (with the inclusion of a two storey side extension on the host dwelling) as Officers considered that the scale of the proposed dwelling,

in combination with the scale of the existing dwelling when extended and the resultant spacing between both plots would be tight with built form extending almost entirely across both plots, resulting in a cramped and overdeveloped appearance contrary to the spacious characteristic of the streetscene. This would be exacerbated by the fact that the two storey elements of both dwellings were sited in such close proximity to each other, contrary to the character of the streetscene, which although including development up to boundaries, is typically of single storey scale resulting in a more open and less intensively developed appearance.

To address these concerns revised plans were submitted removing the two storey side extension from the host dwelling and instead proposing a single storey side extension.

The proposed dwelling is detached, two storey, proposed to have a finish to match the existing dwelling and would maintain a moderately large individual plot, therefore it is considered to address the features and characteristics stated in the Design Statement. Each planning application is determined on a case-by-case basis and on its own merits, therefore it is considered that the proposal does not set a precedent. It is also considered that the proposal does not constitute overdevelopment, given that the site is capable of siting an additional dwelling whilst maintaining more than sufficient outdoor amenity space for both the existing and proposed dwelling, meet the minimum internal floorspace standards, and provide an adequate level of off-street parking, all of which matters are discussed later in this report. With the removal of the two storey side extension from the host dwelling, the spacious characteristic of the streetscene and the more traditional pattern of development including single storey elements extending to side boundaries will be retained.

Whilst the proposed site layout indicates landscaping details, including the retention of the side boundary hedge with no. 9 Tor Close and a new hedge subdividing the rear gardens, a planning condition is recommended prior to occupation to secure full details of the landscaping and its retention to ensure an acceptable visual appearance.

It is also considered reasonable to add a condition removing the permitted development rights for hardstanding and means of enclosure given the visual impact this could have on the proposed site within the context of the streetscene.

Given the siting, scale, and design of the proposal, it is considered that it would not result in unacceptable harm to the character or visual amenities of the locality.

Subject to the aforementioned planning conditions, the proposal is considered to comply Policy DE1 of the Local Plan, Policies BH5 and BH6 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan, the Broadsands Village Design Statement and the guidance contained in the NPPF.

The proposal is considered acceptable on the basis of the revised plans. It should be noted that planning application P/2021/0671 approved the formation of a two storey extension to the side of the host dwelling. It would not be possible to construct this side extension in combination with the proposed dwelling as there is overlap and a legal agreement/planning condition is therefore not considered necessary to ensure both schemes are not built out as this would be physically impossible.

### 3. Residential Amenity

The NPPF guides (Paragraph 130) that decisions should ensure that developments create places that are safe, inclusive, and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. Policy DE3 of the Local Plan states that development proposals should be designed to ensure a good level of amenity for future residents or occupiers and should not unduly impact upon the amenity of neighbouring and surrounding uses. The Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan does not provide any requirements in terms of residential amenity.

## Quality of living accommodation for future occupiers

The submitted plans indicate that the proposed dwelling would be four-bedrooms with six bed-spaces set over two-storeys. Policy DE3 of the Torbay Local Plan provides a table which sets out the minimum internal floor space standards for all new residential units. Table 23 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 sets the dwelling space standards for Torbay which are taken from the Government's Nationally Described Space Standard which states for a four bedroom, six bed-space dwelling, set over two storeys, the dwelling should have the minimum gross internal floorspace area of 106 square metres. The submitted proposed floorplans, indicate that the new dwelling would have 123 square metres of internal floorspace. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal would comply with this criterion of Policy DE3 of the Local Plan.

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan also states that new dwellings should provide 55 square metres of outdoor amenity space. The proposed dwelling would have sufficient outdoor amenity space, whilst retaining an adequate amount for the existing dwelling. The proposed dwelling is considered to provide an adequate and suitable environment for future occupiers in terms of outlook and natural light levels.

## Adjacent neighbouring amenity

Policy DE3 of the Torbay Local Plan states that development should not unduly impact upon the amenity of neighbouring and surrounding occupiers.

Objectors have raised concerns in terms of noise and privacy/overlooking. The proposed extensions and alterations to the existing dwelling are considered to be acceptable, given the single storey nature of the extensions, the separation distances between existing adjacent dwellings and the proposed dwelling and the existing and proposed boundary screening.

In respect of the proposed dwelling, the majority of openings at first floor level are on the front and rear of the dwelling, with one window on the south elevation facing no.9 Tor Close serving a landing and two windows on the north side elevation facing the host dwelling serving a bathroom and en-suite. A planning condition requiring these three windows to be obscure glazed and of a restricted opening is therefore recommended to ensure the relationship between the proposed and existing dwellings is acceptable.

No. 9 Tor Close features a first floor window on the side elevation facing the proposed dwelling. This appears to be obscure glazed and from the planning history of this dwelling is likely serving an en-suite. If this window was clear however, the relationship with the proposed dwelling would be considered acceptable given the offset orientation, and separation distance of approximately 7.2m from the window to the closest two storey element of the dwelling (at an angle).

Given there is a separation distance of approximately 18.3m from the rear first floor windows of the proposed dwelling to the side elevation of the dwelling and garden at the rear; 2 Broadsands Road and the first floor side elevation of this dwelling does not feature any openings, this relationship is considered to be acceptable.

Given the aforementioned planning conditions, it is considered that the proposal would not detrimentally overlook nor invade the privacy of adjacent neighbours.

A planning condition requiring the submission of a Construction Method Statement which will stipulate construction hours to protect the amenity of adjacent occupiers is recommended. This is required prior to commencement as it will confirm how the construction process will be managed. Given the siting and orientation of the development, it is considered that the proposals would not result in any detrimental impact in terms of loss of light or overbearing impact upon adjacent neighbours.

As a result of the siting, scale, and design, it is considered that the proposal would not result in any unacceptable harm to the amenities of the occupants of neighbouring buildings in terms of their privacy, outlook, or access to natural light. Subject to the aforementioned planning conditions, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DE3 of the Local Plan.

## 4. Highways, Movement and Parking

The NPPF guides that in assessing specific applications for development it should be ensured that a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have been – taken up, given the type of development and its location; b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content of associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code and d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree (Para 110). It also furthers (Para 111) that development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

Policy TA1 of the Torbay Local Plan and advice contained within the NPPF principally seeks to develop a sustainable model of travel. This baseline aspiration is there to try and meet the travel needs of everyone, whilst also reducing the need for travel and thus the environment impact of movement from development.

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan specifies that new development proposals should have satisfactory provision for off-road motor vehicle parking, bicycles and storage of

containers for waste and recycling. Policy TA2 of the Local Plan states all development proposals should make appropriate provision for works and/or contributions to ensure an adequate level of accessibility and safety, and to satisfy the transport needs of the development. Policy TA3 of the Local Plan details that the Council will require appropriate provision of car, commercial vehicle and cycle parking spaces in all new development. Policy BH8 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan states that all new development should comply with the relevant adopted standards.

The Council's Highways Engineer was consulted on the proposal and stated that the Highways Standing Advice applies. Objectors have raised concerns regarding parking, traffic and access. Policy TA3 of the Local Plan states that new dwellings should be served by two car parking spaces. The parking space size requirements are set out in Policy TA3 and Appendix F of the Local Plan with off-street parking spaces required to be a minimum of 4.8 metres x 2.4 metres, with spaces abutting the public highway requiring 3.2 metres width by 5.5 metres depth as a minimum, to prevent an obstruction to the public footway and/or public highway and other parking spaces. For a garage to count as a parking space a minimum size of 6 metres x 3.3 metres is required.

The proposed dwelling will be served by a space in front of the garage measuring approximately 6.7 metres x 3.3 metres and a space in front of the dwelling measuring 6.7 metres x 2.75 metres. Two full size parking spaces would therefore be provided at the front of the dwelling. The proposed garage would not count as a parking space given its internal dimensions of 5.5 metres x 3 metres but could be utilised for bin, bicycle and general storage.

The proposal will introduce a new access onto Tor Close which is a 30mph road. The Highways Standing Advice states that a visibility splay of 43 metres x 2.4 metres will be required. The Design and Access Statement notes that *Tor close is a residential Cul-de-Sac and whilst there are no posted speed signs given the width, closed nature and residential status a functioning speed limit of 20mph is used for considering visibility splays. This is shown on the proposed site plan. The drive opening width and visibility is consistent with most of the private drives on Tor Close. A site plan with a visibility splay of 25 metres x 2.4 metres has been detailed however a larger visibility in line with the recommended 43 metres x 2.4 metres would be achievable in this location.* 

The proposed parking arrangement and new access onto Tor Close are considered to be acceptable. A planning condition is recommended to secure the parking provision prior to occupation of the new dwelling and for its retention thereafter.

Appendix F of the Local Plan states that new dwellings should provide 2 secure and covered bicycle spaces. There is considered to be sufficed space on site for the provision of bicycle storage and a planning condition is recommended to secure the details of the storage provision prior to occupation and its retention thereafter. Similarly, the proposal does not include an electric vehicle charging point, and it is recommended to secure this through a planning condition.

Policy W1 of the Local Plan states that as a minimum, all developments should make provision for appropriate storage, recycling, treatment and removal of waste likely to

be generated and with particular reference to residential developments, they should provide adequate space within the curtilage for waste and accessible kerbside recycle bins and boxes. The proposed site layout does not indicate an area for bin storage however there is considered to be sufficient space within the curtilage. A planning condition is recommended to secure the details of the waste storage provision prior to occupation and its retention thereafter.

Subject to the aforementioned planning conditions, the proposal is considered to accord with Policies TA2, TA3, W1 and Appendix F of the Local Plan and Policy BH8 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan.

## 5. Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees

Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan seeks for development to duly consider biodiversity and take opportunities for enhancement, proportionate to the context and development. Policy SS8, particularly criterion 1, of the Local Plans states sites, species and habitats protected under European, or equivalent legislation will be protected from development. Development around the edge of the built up area will be required to protect and manage wildlife and habitats, including corridors between them, in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Local Plan and particular attention must be paid to Greater Horseshoe Bat flightpaths. Policy E8 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan states that internationally important sites and species will be protected. Development affecting internationally protected site and species will only be approved where it can be demonstrated there is no likely significant effect, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects and regard has been given to the NPPF and conforms to Policy NC1 of the Local Plan. Guidance within the NPPF provides similar guidance to the above and notably Para 180 guides that when determining planning applications, local planning authorities should apply principles that include opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments should be integrated as part of the design, especially where this can secure measurable net gains for biodiversity.

Objectors have raised concerns regarding trees and wildlife. The site is within Sustenance Zone and Landscape Connectivity Zone of the South Hams SAC for the greater horseshoe bat. The application is supported by a Bat and Nesting Bird Survey however this only considers works to the existing dwelling.

The report states no bats or signs of the presence of bats were found in the roof void or around the outside of the house. No 'bat-sized' gaps / potential roost locations were detected around the outside of the building.

The report also comments that no evidence of bird nesting activity was found in or around the outside of the house. Some potential nesting habitat was noted within the proposed development zone at the side of the house. Without mitigation, there is potential for the proposed development to disturb nesting birds.

No slow worms were found, but potential / favourable slow worm habitat was noted in the garden. The possible presence of slow worms has been assumed, and appropriate and proportionate mitigation measures recommended to minimise the risk of causing harm to animals.

There is a risk of disturbing breeding birds and their nests with tree, shrub and hedgerow removal during construction, therefore in order to avoid any potential impacts, it is recommended that vegetation should be removed outside of nesting bird season or with pre-works checks by an ecologist.

The ecology report also provides biodiversity net gain measures to the existing dwelling in the form of three swift boxes.

As the proposal will involve the removal of a small section of hedge to allow for the new access and clearance of parts of the site, a planning condition is recommended to ensure a 10% biodiversity net gain is achieved alongside adherence to the reconditions of the ecology report. It is also recommended that a condition requiring details of any external lighting to the new dwelling is added to ensure no harm to light sensitive species occurs.

As detailed in Local Plan Policy NC1, all developments that create recreational pressure upon the Berry Head Grassland must pay a contribution to mitigating the impact of increased visitor pressure. As set out in the report by Footprint Ecology (2014) the primary zone of influence is 5km driving distance, which is roughly equivalent to the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan area/ Local Plan Policy SDB1. All residential, tourism, and other development likely to increase recreation pressure upon the calcareous grassland at the Berry Head to Sharkham Point component of the South Hams SAC will be required to make a financial contribution towards mitigating the impact. The Footprint Ecology report considers the pressures of development upon the Berry Head grassland and recommends mitigation measures (para 6.14 onwards). It was estimated that the cost of carrying out these mitigation works was £384,000 (£404,350 at 2019 prices). The Footprint Ecology report assessed that 44% of visits were from Brixham. Overall 42% of visitors were from local residents and 58% from tourists. This indicates a cost of £95 per new dwellings in the Brixham Peninsula is required towards management/reduction of impact on the Berry Head Grassland.

The agent has agreed to undertake a unilateral undertaking to secure the £95 payment.

Subject to the aforementioned planning condition and unilateral undertaking, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy NC1 of the Local Plan and Policy E8 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan.

Policy C4 of the Local Plan states that development will not be permitted where it would seriously harm, either directly or indirectly, protected trees or veteran trees, hedgerows, ancient woodlands or other natural features of significant landscape, historic or nature conservation value. Policy C4 goes on to state that development proposals should seek to retain and protect existing hedgerows, trees and natural landscape features wherever possible, particularly where they serve an important biodiversity role. Policy E7 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan states that development should where-ever possible ensure the retention, integration or enhancement of local semi-natural, cultural, historic or man-made features and their

contribution to the special character, wildlife habitats and biodiversity of the Peninsula, such as Devon banks and dry-stone walls and gateposts.

The site does not include any protected trees and is not located within a Conservation Area. The Council's Green Infrastructure Manager has been consulted on the application and has noted that the development proposal will require clearance to facilitate the development. The Officer considers that the vegetation is of low quality and amenity and no objection is raised from an arboricultural perspective on the removal. It is recommended in line with the Officer's comments and as recommended above that a landscaping condition is added to ensure a good quality visual appearance and to help assimilate the development into its surroundings.

Subject to the aforementioned planning condition, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy C4 of the Local Plan and Policy E7 of the Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan.

## 6. Flood Risk and Drainage

The NPPFs key guidance (Para 167) is when determining any planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere, and where appropriate applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment.

Policy ER1 of the Local Plan states that proposals should maintain or enhance the prevailing water flow regime on-site, including an allowance for climate change, and ensure the risk of flooding is not increased elsewhere.

The site is located within the Critical Drainage Area and is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment which states that surface water will be dealt with via infiltration using a soakaway or other sustainable drainage system. Given the nature of the proposal, the intended means of surface water drainage is considered acceptable having regard to the adopted Standing Advice and the Drainage Officer has confirmed he has no objection. Whilst South West Water have noted that the intention is to discharge to the public combined sewerage network and this is not acceptable, this is not the intention of the proposal and the prosed method of surface water drainage adheres to the drainage hierarchy.

Given the nature of the proposal, subject to the recommended planning condition to secure the intended means of surface water drainage, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy ER1 of the Local Plan.

#### 7. Low Carbon Development and Climate Change

Policy SS14 of the Local Plan relates to 'Low carbon development and adaptation to climate change' and seeks to minimise carbon emissions and the use of natural resources. Policy ES1 seeks to ensure that carbon emissions associated with existing buildings (heating, cooling, lighting and energy consumption) are limited.

The Design and Access Statement notes that the building envelop will be constructed

using contemporary materials, insulation and double glazing, with insulation properties exceeding the minimum standards required by building regulations. Water using appliances within the proposed new dwelling with be compliant with the requirements of the current building regulations. It is proposed that the building will be constructed using an off-site closed panel timber frame system. The proposed construction will achieve significantly greater U-values than are required by building regulations and can achieve an air permeability rate coming close to passive house standards. These measures will ensure reduced energy use and greenhouse gas emissions.

The sustainability measures outlined above are considered reasonable and a condition to secure the measures outlined within the Design and Access Statement is recommended to ensure compliance with Policy. With the addition of this condition the development is in accordance with Policy SS14 and ES1 of the Torbay Local Plan and advice contained within the NPPF.

### **Sustainability**

Policy SS3 of the Local Plan establishes the presumption in favour of sustainable development. The NPPF definition of sustainability has three aspects which are economic, social and environmental. Each of which shall be discussed in turn:

#### The Economic Role

Housing development is recognised as an important driver of economic growth and there would be economic benefits to the construction industry from the proposed development. The development would see the use of area of garden for 1 additional dwelling. Once the development is occupied there would be an increase in the level of disposable income from the occupants some which would be likely to be spent in the local area and an increase in the demand for local goods and services.

There are no adverse economic impacts that would arise from this development. In respect of the economic element of sustainable development the balance is considered to be in favour of the development.

## The Social Role

The principle social benefit of the proposed development would be the provision of additional housing. Given the NPPF priority to significantly boost the supply of housing the additional dwelling to be provided must carry significant weight in this balance.

The use of the site for housing would provide an appropriate use and offer 1 additional dwelling within a sustainable location. On balance, the social impacts of the development weigh in favour of the development.

#### The Environmental role

With respect to the environmental role of sustainable development, the elements that are considered especially relevant to the proposed development are impacts on ecology and biodiversity and drainage. These matters have been considered in detail above.

The environmental benefits identified are marginal in the case of any biodiversity net gain, where it is proposed to require enhancement measures through condition. The proposal will include bicycle storage, and the proposed development is in a sustainable location within the existing urban area.

It is concluded that the environmental impacts of the development weigh positively within the planning balance.

## **Sustainability Conclusion**

Having regard to the above assessment the proposed development is considered to represent sustainable development.

## Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues

Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act. This Act gives further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance.

Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and Section 149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities. Protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and sexual orientation.

#### **Local Finance Considerations**

#### Affordable Housing:

Not applicable.

#### CIL:

The CIL liability for this development is Nil.

#### S106:

Due to the nature of the proposal (creation of one residential dwelling) and its location, a unilateral undertaking is required to be completed to secure the planning contributions required for the recreational impacts on the Berry Head calcareous grassland. A sum of £95 is required as set out in the Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing SPD. The agent has agreed to enter into a unilateral undertaking to secure the sum.

## **EIA/HRA**

EIA:

Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA development.

HRA:

Not applicable.

## **Planning Balance**

The planning assessment considers the policy and material considerations in detail. It is considered that the scheme in terms of addressing the Development Plan aspiration to provide housing would produce a significantly positive impact overall and help with the supply of much needed housing.

## **Conclusions and Reasons for Decision**

The proposal is acceptable in principle; would not result in unacceptable harm to the character of the area or local amenity; would provide an adequate standard of living accommodation and provide acceptable arrangements in relation to access, flood risk, and ecological constraints. On balance, the proposed development is considered acceptable, having regard to the Torbay Local Plan, the Brixham Neighbourhood Plan, and all other material considerations.

#### Officer Recommendation

Approval: Subject to;

The conditions as outlined below with the final drafting of conditions delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency;

The completion of a Unilateral undertaking legal agreement to secure £95 payment to mitigate the impact of additional recreational pressure on the calcareous grassland at the Berry Head to Sharkham Point component of the South Hams SAC.

The resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light following Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further planning conditions or obligations.

#### **Conditions**

#### 1. Construction Management Plan

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by,

the Local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:

- a) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors.
- b) Loading and unloading of plant and materials.
- c) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development.
- d) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate.
- e) Wheel washing facilities.
- f) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction.
- g) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works, with priority given to reuse of building materials on site wherever practicable.
- h) Measures to minimise noise nuisance to neighbours from plant and machinery.
- i) Construction working hours from 8:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday, 8:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

Reason: This information is required prior to the commencement of the development as it will confirm how the construction process will be managed in the interests of highway safety and local amenity in accordance with policies TA1, TA2, C4 and DE3 of the New Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.

#### 2. Flood Risk Assessment

In accordance with the submitted flood risk assessment dated 25<sup>th</sup> May 2022, surface water drainage shall be provided by means of soakaways within the site which shall comply with the requirements of BRE Digest 365 for the critical 1 in 100 year storm event plus 40% for climate change unless an alternative means of surface water drainage is submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development.

Reason: In the interests of adapting to climate change and managing flood risk, and in order to accord with saved Policy ER1 and ER2 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and the guidance contained within the NPPF.

## 3. Parking

The new dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until the hardstanding parking area detailed on the approved plans have been provided. The hardstanding shall thereafter be retained for the use of parking for the associated dwelling for the life of the development.

Reason: In accordance with highway safety and amenity, and in accordance with Policy TA3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy BH8 of the Adopted Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.

#### 4. EV Charging Point

Prior to the occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, a scheme for the insertion of one electrical charging point to be located within the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include design, location, specification and a timescale for insertion prior to occupation. The agreed electrical charging point shall be thereafter maintained and retained for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To ensure the parking provision of the new residential units in accordance with the requirements of Planning Policy TA1, TA3 and Appendix F of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy BH8 of the Adopted Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.

## 5. Bicycle Storage

Prior to the first occupation of the new dwelling hereby approved, details of bicycle storage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and provided for the use of the dwelling. The bicycle storage shall be retained for the life of the development.

Reason: To ensure adequate bicycle storage facilities are provided to serve the development in accordance with Policies TA2 and TA3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and in the interests of sustainability.

### 6. Bin Storage

Prior to the first occupation of the new dwelling hereby approved, provision shall be made for the storage of refuse and recycling awaiting collection according to details which shall previously have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Once provided, the agreed storage arrangements shall be retained for the life of the development.

Reason: To ensure adequate bicycle storage facilities are provided to serve the development in accordance with Policies DE1 and W1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and in the interests of sustainability.

# 7. Obscure Glazing/ Restricted Opening to First Floor Side Windows (new dwelling)

Prior to the first occupation of the new dwelling hereby approved, the first floor side windows serving a bathroom, en-suite and landing window on the north and south elevations shall be fitted with Pilkington level 4 (or an equivalent standard) obscured glazing over the entirety of the windows with no clear areas,. These windows shall be fixed shut unless opening parts are located higher than 1.7m above finished floor level or they are fitted with a 100mm opening restrictor. The windows shall thereafter be permanently retained in that condition for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of privacy of the neighbouring properties, in accordance with Policy DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.

#### 8. Landscaping

Prior to the first occupation of the new dwelling hereby approved, full details of the hard and soft landscape works, including an implementation and management plan, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Details of soft landscape works shall include retention of any existing trees and hedges; finished levels/contours; planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate. The hard landscape works shall include means of enclosure; boundary and surface treatments and vehicle and pedestrian/cyclist circulation.

All planting, seeding, turfing or hard surfacing comprised in the approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out by the end of the first planting and seeding seasons following the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner. Any trees or plants which within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

The approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out in its entirety and shall accord with the approved details and timetable. Any boundary treatments or means of enclosure shall be carried out and installed prior to the first occupation of the new dwelling.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy BH5 of the Adopted Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.

#### 9. Ecology

No development shall occur beyond slab level of the new dwelling until a scheme to provide a 10% biodiversity net gain across the application site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The recommendations and mitigation given in the 'Bat & Nesting Bird Survey' by Butler Ecology, shall be followed, including precautions to prevent threat of harm during construction works and timings of works.

The biodiversity net gain measures shall be installed/undertaken prior to first occupation of the new dwelling hereby approved and shall be retained thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of protected species and in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy E8 of the Adopted Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.

#### 10. Bird Nesting Season

No works, including vegetation clearance, shall take place during the bird nesting season (01 March to 31 August, inclusive) unless the developer has been advised by a suitably qualified ecologist that the clearance will not disturb nesting birds and a record of this kept and made available to the Local Planning Authority upon request.

Reason: In order to protect ecology and to secure necessary mitigation to accord with the aims for biodiversity enhancements, in accordance with Policies NC1 and SS8 of the Torbay Local Plan and guidance contained in the NPPF.

## 11. Lighting

Prior to the installation of any external lighting within the site of the new dwelling, full details including their design, siting and levels/type of illumination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The external lighting shall thereafter be installed in full accordance with the approved details. No further external lighting shall be provided within the plot.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and to minimise impacts on protected species in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.

#### 12. Low Carbon

The construction of the new dwelling hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained in section 8 of the 'Planning, Design and Access Statement'. All measures to limit carbon emissions shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the dwelling.

Reason: In interests of low carbon development and in accordance with Policy SS14 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.

#### 13. Removal of PD – Hardstanding and Means of Enclosure

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (As amended) (and any Order revoking and re enacting this Order), no development of the types described in the following Classes of Schedule 2 shall be undertaken without the express consent in writing of the Local Planning Authority other than those expressly authorised by this permission:

- (a) Part 1, Class F (Hard surfaces)
- (b) Part 2, Class A (Gates, fences, walls etc)

Reason: In interests of visual and local amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy BH5 of the Adopted Brixham Peninsula Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.

## Informative(s)

In accordance with the requirements of Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order, 2015, in determining this application, Torbay Council has worked positively with the applicant to ensure that all relevant planning concerns have been appropriately resolved. The Council has concluded that this application is acceptable for planning approval.

## **Relevant Policies**

#### **Development Plan Relevant Policies**

- SS1 Growth Strategy for a prosperous Torbay
- SS3 Presumption in favour of sustainable dev
- SS8 Natural Environment
- SS11 Sustainable Communities Strategy
- SS12 Housing
- SS13 Five Year Housing Land Supply
- SS14 Low carbon development and adaption to climate change
- TA1 Transport and accessibility
- TA2 Development access
- TA3 Parking requirements
- C4 Trees, hedgerows and natural landscape
- H1 Applications for new homes
- DE1 Design
- DE3 Development Amenity
- ER1 Flood Risk
- ER2 Water Management
- ES1 Energy
- W1 Waste management facilities
- NC1 Biodiversity and geodiversity
- BH5 Good design and the town and village Design Statements
- BH6 Roofscape and dormer management
- BH7- Sustainable construction
- BH8 Access to new dwellings
- E2 Settlement boundaries
- E8 Internationally and nationally important ecological sites and species

# **TORBAY COUNCIL**

Application Site Address	Splashdown Quay West Water Park, Tanners Road, Paignton
Proposal	Formation of leisure facilities including waterslides, and indoor play and climbing centre. Relocation of reception area. Formation of car park and access to staff car parking spaces and railway. Alterations to arcade/cafe/kiosk building and refuse area. Relandscaping. Altered boundary treatments and entrance arrangements.
Application Number	P/2021/1093
Applicant	Lemur Attractions Ltd
Agent	Pure Town Planning
Date Application Valid	30.03.2022
Decision Due date	29.06.2022
Extension of Time Date	16.09.2022
Recommendation	<ol> <li>The conditions outlined below, with the final drafting of conditions delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning Housing and Climate Emergency;</li> <li>The completion of a S106 Legal Agreement to secure the heads of terms above, in accordance with the adopted Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document, on terms acceptable to Officers.</li> <li>The resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light following Planning Committee to be delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning and Housing and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further planning conditions or obligations.</li> </ol>
Reason for Referral to Planning Committee	Major Planning Application
Planning Committee  Planning Case Officer	Mr. Alexis Moran
i larifility dase dilicel	IVII. / NOAIS IVIOTATI



## **Site Details**

The site is Splashdown Quay West water park which is located on Tanners Road in Paignton. To the east there are there is a bar/restaurant and hotel, Goodginton Beach is approximately 40m to the east and south. Youngs Park is to the north.

To the immediate west is a railway line which makes up part of the Dartmouth Steam Railway. Further to the west is a large car park and beyond this is the A379 Dartmouth Road and Torbay Leisure Centre. To the south is a promenade, including the South West Coast path, the beach and an area containing beach huts.

The southern part of the application site includes an area of land which currently includes a public basketball court, some exercise equipment and an area of other recreational use.

The site lies within the Core Tourism Investment Area and Coastal Change Management Area.

### **Description of Development**

The planning application seeks permission for the redevelopment of the existing facilities provided which includes:

- New aqua play area with relocated "Reach Outdoors" reception to the south of the site:
- Addition of new waterslides to the east and to the west;
- New building for children's indoor play and climbing centre. The new indoor
  play and climbing centre building is to be to the north of the site in the location
  of the existing Go-Kart track. The building is to be 47.5m long by 26m wide
  with a maximum height of approximately 10.26m;
- New car park and formation of new access to railway and staff car parking spaces at the north of the site;
- New customer amenities;
- Refurbishment of existing arcade/café/kiosk building with cladding;
- The proposal includes the removal of 15 trees and the planting of 15 new trees as part of a landscaping and boundary treatment scheme;
- Revised refuse area to the south of the site.

## **Pre-Application Enquiry**

DE/2019/0037 - Installation of new play/leisure facilities, including: addition of new waterslides, aqua play area, new building for children's indoor play centre, high ropes course, new customer amenities, refurbishment of existing arcade/cafe building, full program of re-landscaping and altered boundary treatments, altered access arrangements and revised refuse area. The pre-application summary advised that the principle of tourism related development and redevelopment in this location is considered acceptable, but that the proposals would require substantial revision and additional supporting information in order to secure officer support for any formal application for planning permission.

## **Relevant Planning Policy Context**

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on local planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The following development

plan policies and material considerations are relevant to this application:

### **Development Plan**

- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 ("The Local Plan")
- The Paignton Neighbourhood Plan

#### **Material Considerations**

- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
- Planning Policy Guidance (PPG)
- Published Standing Advice
- Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the following advice and representations, planning history, and other matters referred to in this report.

### **Relevant Planning History**

No recent relevant planning history to this proposal.

# **Summary of Representations**

Three letters of support have been received which relate to the improvements to the tourism offer and the provision of jobs.

### **Summary of Consultation Responses**

Torbay Development Agency - This exciting development will provide improvements to the popular family attraction, including with new indoor and outdoor facilities for families and also wet weather provision. The new indoor play and climbing centre brings new facilities which are currently missing from Torbay's tourism offer and crucially will be provided all year round.

The application makes reference to creating new full time and part time jobs, seasonal and all year-round employment, a welcome investment in supporting the local economy and developing skills. We strongly encourage the company to strengthen links with South Devon College to offer accessible apprenticeships and skills programmes to employ local talent and engage with TDA where possible.

English Riviera BID Company - The English Riviera BID Company is in full support of the planned improvements at Splashdown Waterpark.

Torbay Council Drainage Engineer - Providing the flood mitigation works identified within the site-specific flood risk assessment are incorporated into the development, and the recently agreed standing advice is used for the surface water drainage, I have no objections on drainage grounds to planning permission being granted for this development.

Waste Client Officer - No objection

Green Infrastructure Officer - I am satisfied with the landscape scheme. The two main areas of concern are car parking to the far north east corner to facilitate the staff car parking and the loss of the Sycamore (T19).

We would require an AMS to show how the car parking was to be installed that would mitigate any damage to retained trees and a tree protection plan accompanying the AMS.

If the Sycamore is to be removed, then this would be a loss to the area however the landscaping proposals are sufficient to offset this in the long term.

My initial concerns over the categorisations of the trees remans but the retention of the trees as discussed at a site meeting with the client have been reflected in the drawings.

Highways – The applicant has successful addressed all concerns raised by the Local Highways Authority and thus the negative recommendation previously issued in respect to this planning application has been removed. The application is therefore recommended for approval subject to the conditions details above.

Environment Agency – No comments received

Natural England – No objection

South West Water – No objection

Council's Ecology Consultant – No objection

# **Key Issues/Material Considerations**

### **Planning Officer Assessment**

# Principle of development

The matters for consideration are:

- 1. Principle of Development
- 2. Economic Benefits
- 3. Design and Visual Impact
- 4. Impact on Amenity
- 5. Ecology
- 6. Trees and Landscaping
- 7. Flooding and Drainage
- 8. Highways Impact
- 9. S106
- 10. Other Considerations

### 1. Principle of Development

Policy TO1 of the Local Plan promotes the improvement, modernisation and the addition of new tourism facilities in order to attract new visitors and to support the local economy. This will be achieved by supporting the principle of improvements to existing tourism facilities which focus, amongst other things, on biodiversity.

Paignton Neighbourhood Plan Policy PNP25 which relates to the Clennon Valley area aims to improve the provision of facilities for tourists that widen the tourism offer.

The proposed development would provide a larger and improved tourist facility in an area on brownfield land. Policy SC2 states that Major new leisure facilities should be developed on accessible and well-located sites, such as this one. This policy also advises that there will be a presumption against loss of existing recreational and leisure facilities, unless: i) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly

shown the open space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or ii) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or iii) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for which clearly outweigh the loss. The proposed development results in the loss of a public open space and recreation/play park area to the south of the site and therefore mitigation for this loss is required.

In line with the Councils Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD, a planning contribution of £44,990 is required to mitigate the loss of the current area of open space and recreation in order to provide a public benefit to those who have been disadvantaged by its loss. This contribution can be used to provide improvements to existing play facilities in the area (to the north on Youngs Park) or in another way that would provide a public benefit, and which is related to the proposed development. In this instance the proposed mitigation is through a discounted/free ticket service to local residents of the area up to the £44,990 (index linked) value required for mitigation. Officers consider that this proposal is an acceptable alternative.

Bearing the forgoing in mind, the proposals are considered to be acceptable in principle. This broad position is however subject to wider policy considerations that are relevant to the development proposal, which will be discussed in the forthcoming sections of this assessment.

### 2. Economic benefits

Policy SS1 (Growth strategy for a prosperous Torbay) of the Local Plan states that development should reinforce Torbay's role as a main urban centre and premier resort. Policy SS4 (The economy and employment) supports the regeneration of Torbay and improvement in its economic performance, with the aim of achieving a step-change in economic prosperity as set out in Torbay's Economic Strategy. The Local Plan supports existing businesses; it encourages new businesses and investment into the area in order to create new jobs; and it promotes the expansion and diversification of the economy of the Bay. The Local Plan seeks to promote growth in sectors that are particularly important in Torbay, namely tourism and catering.

Policy SS11 (Sustainable communities) explains that proposals that regenerate or lead to the improvement of social, economic or environmental conditions in Torbay will be supported in principle.

The applicant advises that the development would create 26 new full time jobs and 126 new part time jobs.

The Torbay Development Agency supports the application, noting that: "This exciting development will provide improvements to the popular family attraction, including with new indoor and outdoor facilities for families and also wet weather provision. The new indoor play and climbing centre brings new facilities which are currently missing from Torbay's tourism offer and crucially will be provided all year round."

Given that the proposal would modernise and enhance the tourism facilities available at the site, provide an all year round tourism facility, create new jobs and is expected to generate significant additional spend within the local economy, it is considered that it corresponds with the aspirations of Policies SS1, SS4 and SS11 of the Local Plan, and would bring economic benefits to the Bay compared to the existing situation.

### 3. Design and Visual Impact

The National Planning Policy Framework states that one of the core land-use planning principles that should underpin decision taking is to always seek to secure high quality design. In addition, it states that 'permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions'. New development should be sympathetic to local character and history, including surrounding built environment and landscape setting.

Consistent with these paragraphs, Policy SS11 of the Torbay Local Plan states that development must help to create cohesive communities within a high-quality built and natural environment where people want to live and work and that development proposals will be assessed according to whether they achieve certain criteria as far as they are relevant and proportionate to the development. Criterion 3 refers to

development that helps to develop a sense of place and local identity and criterion 10 refers to delivering development of an appropriate type, scale, quality, mix and density in relation to its location.

Following on from this, Policy DE1 states that proposals will be assessed against their ability to meet design considerations such as whether they adopt high quality architectural detail with a distinctive and sensitive palette of materials and whether they positively enhance the built environment.

Policy PNP1(c) of the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan states that development must be of good quality design, respect the local character in terms of height, scale, and bulk; and reflect the identity of its surroundings.

The additional waterslides accord with the character of the existing water park in terms of design and scale. The refurbishments to the existing buildings are deemed to be acceptable. Following amendments to the proposed external materials the new building for the indoor play and climbing centre on the existing Go-Kart track is considered to be of a suitable scale and design with the finish materials appropriate for the location.

Given the proposal's siting, layout, scale, and overall design, it is considered that the development would not result in any unacceptable harm to the character of the area. It is considered that the proposal accords with Policies DE1, and SS11 of the Local Plan, Policy PNP1 of the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan, and the guidance contained in the NPPF.

# 4. Impact on Amenity

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan states that development proposals should be designed to ensure an acceptable level of amenity.

The proposed developments would be a minimum of approximately 103m from the nearest residential property. The distance between the developments and the nearest residential properties is considered to be sufficient enough to result in minimal impacts in terms of noise and disturbance and there would be no overbearing impacts or

intervisibility issues.

The proposal is deemed to comply with Policy DE3 of the Local Plan.

# 5. Ecology

Policy NC1 seeks to conserve and enhance Torbay's biodiversity and geodiversity, through the protection and improvement of terrestrial and marine environments, and fauna and flora, commensurate to their importance.

Policy C3 of the Torbay Local Plan notes that development should not adversely affect the natural environment of an area, including the marine ecology

Policy SS8 advises that all development should have regard to its environmental setting and should positively contribute to the conservation and enhancement of the natural assets and setting of the bat.

Policy SDP1 states the role of Goodrington as a leisure and employment hub will be promoted and enhanced, whilst protecting the area's environmental assets.

The site is within the Cirl Bunting Consultation Zone. The habitats onsite are not deemed suitable in supporting nesting or foraging Cirl Bunting.

No badger setts were identified on site during the extended Phase 1 Habitat survey, however the Councils ecology consultant has advised that a repeat survey is carried out on site prior to commencement of development in order to ensure there remains no badger presence on site.

The proposed development would result in a small loss of habitat onsite with limited space within the site to provide mitigation. In line with the Councils Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing SPD, the applicant has agreed to provide a contribution of £25 per square metre for 387m2 of habitat (£9,675). The Councils ecology consultant has confirmed that this is acceptable and the proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of its impact on ecology.

#### **HRA**

Policy TO1 of the Torbay Local Plan, states that any proposal that may lead to likely significant effects on a site protected under European legislation will only be permitted where no adverse effect on the integrity of the site can be shown.

The site falls within the sustenance zone for Greater Horseshoe bats associated with the Berry Head SSSI roost. The site is considered to offer negligible foraging habitats for Greater Horseshoe bats given the site's location on the urban and coastal edge of Paignton in a well-lit area, comprising mainly hardstanding. The site is also deemed to offer sub-optimal commuting habitat for GHBs using the wider landscape. Bat surveys undertaken by the consultant ecologist in October 2021 did not record any Greater Horseshoe bats around the site.

Following the South Hams SAC HRA Guidance document (DCC et al. 2019), it is not deemed that the application could lead to an increased level of artificial illuminance within a sustenance zone on GHB commuting routes. Likely Significant Effect on the South Hams SAC resulting from impacts to Greater Horseshoe Bats can be screened out of further assessment.

The site is also adjacent to the Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC boundary. Development would only be a risk to the SAC if run-off was able to flow into coastal waters. Surface water runoff pollution (oil spills, chemicals etc.) during construction and operation phases are likely to have a cumulative negative impact on both water quality and species along Torbay's coast. In addition discharge of pollution from the land could potentially impact on the interest features in the site by causing change in physiochemical conditions of the overlying water, such as change in temperature, turbidity, salinity, and increase in nutrient and organic matter.

The development therefore has the potential to result in a likely significant effect on the habitats associated with Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC as a result of:

• Increased waterborne pollutants discharged to culverted water courses or to ground water during construction

• Increased demand on drainage capacity and the foul sewer infrastructure during operation

A Stage 2 Appropriate Assessment is therefore required with respect to potential effects of the development on the reef features Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC.

The consultation responses from the Councils Drainage Engineer and SWW advise that they have no objections to the proposal providing the flood mitigation works identified within the site specific flood risk assessment are incorporated into the development, that the recently agreed standing advice is used for the surface water drainage and that surface water is managed in accordance with the submitted drainage strategy.

Mitigation, in the form of planning conditions will ensure that the likely significant effects on Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC are avoided. The mitigation measures required are the submission of a Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and a compliance condition to ensure the development accords with the submitted flood risk mitigation and surface water drainage strategy.

Subject to compliance with the mitigation conditions, it is concluded that the proposal will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC.

Natural England have confirmed that they have no objection to the proposal provided that the mitigation proposed in the HRA/AA is conditioned as part of any planning permission.

# E IA

Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA development.

### 6. Trees and Landscaping

Policy C4 of the Torbay Local Plan states that development proposals should seek to retain and protect existing hedgerows, trees and natural landscape features.

The proposed development would result in the loss of 15 trees in order to accommodate the new tourism facilities on site. The landscape plan for the site proposes the planting of 15 replacement trees.

The Councils Green infrastructure Manager has confirmed that he is satisfied with the proposed landscape scheme. A Sycamore is to be removed to allow for the new platform and slides to the eastern part of the site, the loss of the Sycamore would be detrimental to the character of the area, however this tree is not protected and the landscaping proposals are sufficient to offset this loss in the long term.

A condition requiring an Aboricultural Method Statement and tree protection plan showing how the new car parking area is to be installed to prevent any damage to retained trees will be necessary.

The loss of the Sycamore tree is unfortunate, although this is mitigated by new planting and the positive benefits which result in improvements to the tourism facility within the Core Tourism Area. Subject to conditions, the proposal is considered, on balance, to comply with Policy C4 of the Local Plan.

### 7. Flooding and Drainage

Policy ER1 (Flood risk) states that development must be safe for its lifetime, taking account of its future use, function and government projections of how the risk of flooding may change in response to climate change. Development proposals will be expected to maintain or enhance the prevailing water flow regime on-site, including an allowance for climate change, and ensure the risk of flooding is not increased elsewhere.

Part of the site, to the south, lies within Flood Zone 3. The guidance contained in the NPPF requires the Local Planning Authority to apply the Sequential Test to the proposal, where the objective is to direct development towards land at the lowest risk of flooding. The proposal would result in additional facilities to an existing water park which is partially located within flood zone 3 (a small portion of the site to the south).

It is considered that the proposal would result in public benefits with the site in question being used to provide an improved tourist facility within the Core Tourism Investment Area. As this is an extension to an existing facility, there are not considered to be more appropriate sites within flood zone 1 that could accommodate the development, and it is therefore considered that it passes the Sequential Test.

The Exceptions Test requires the Council to consider whether there are wider sustainability benefits to the community of allowing the proposal, and whether it could be made sufficiently safe for its lifetime. It is considered that the proposed development would result in wider sustainability benefits, by providing an improved tourism facility, with associated economic benefits contributing to the vibrancy of the Core Tourism Investment Area. In terms of the proposal's safety, the submitted Flood Risk Assessment makes a number of recommendations intended to ensure this, in addition to the proposed flood mitigation measures, the developer has identified that the owners will be registering with the Environment Agency Flood Warning Service for coastal flooding in this area of Torbay.

The developer has identified that surface water drainage will be discharged using sustainable urban drainage. Providing the flood mitigation works identified within the site specific flood risk assessment are incorporated into the development, and the recently agreed standing advice is used for the surface water drainage, the Councils Drainage Engineer has confirmed the proposal is acceptable on drainage grounds.

Subject to conditions, the proposal is therefore deemed to comply with Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Local Plan.

# 8. Highways Impact

The proposed development includes a staff car park to the north of the site which will facilitate six car parking spaces and a staff cycle rack. The car park would be accessed via a newly proposed access off of Tanners Road.

The Local Highways Authority had previously raised concerns regarding the feasibility of the location of the access point to the proposed staff car park on the

brow of the railway bridge on Tanners Road. These issues were broadly grouped into three main categories, visibility, gating and gradient of land.

In terms of the visibility, updated the alignment details have been received which includes a 2.4m x 2.4m pedestrian visibility splays which would allow a vehicle emerging from the proposed car park to gain sight of any pedestrians approaching on the footway before pulling out. This satisfactorily resolves the previously raised issues regarding visibility.

The Applicant has confirmed that the gradient of the land of both the proposed staff car park and the proposed emergency access road which runs parallel to the eastern border of the site will conform to the required standards. This will require the access road to have a maximum longitudinal gradient of 1:12 (8% slope), and the car parking area to have a maximum gradient of 1:20 (5%). The Highways Authority therefore recommends that a condition is attached to any planning permission which requires detailed design of the car park and the proposed access road to be submitted to and agreed in writing prior to the commencement of any works to those facilities.

The Applicant has provided updated swept path analysis of the proposed emergency access road, see drawing entitled 'Appendix G'. The updated plan now demonstrates that emergency vehicles (both a fire tender and an ambulance) can be accommodated by the proposed site access.

Subject to conditions, the proposal is considered acceptable on highway grounds, and in accordance with the Policies TA2 & TA3 of the Torbay Local Plan and guidance contained within the NPPF.

#### 9. S106

The proposal will result in the loss of an area of public open space to the south of the site. In order to mitigate this the applicant has agreed to enter into a s.106 agreement which will provide free tickets to local residents i.e. residents of Torbay up to the value of £44,990 (index linked).

The proposed development would result in a slight loss of habitat onsite with limited space within the site to provide mitigation. Therefore, in line with the Councils Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing SPD, the applicant has agreed to provide a contribution of £25 per square metre for 387m2 of habitat (£9,675). The Councils ecology consultant has confirmed that this is acceptable.

### 10. Other Considerations

### Sustainability

Policy SS3 of the Local Plan establishes the presumption in favour of sustainable development. The NPPF definition of sustainability has three aspects which are economic, social and environmental. Each of which shall be discussed in turn.

### The Economic Role

The applicant advises that the development would create 26 new full time jobs and 126 new part time jobs. The development will provide improvements to an existing tourism attraction, including with new indoor and outdoor facilities for families providing an all year round tourism offer. These factors would provide additional economic benefits through wider spending in the local economy.

There are no adverse economic impacts that would arise from this development.

In respect of the economic element of sustainable development the balance is considered to be positive.

#### The Social Role

The applicant advises that the development would create 26 new full time jobs and 126 new part time jobs. Improvements to the existing facilities provide an all year round active form of development for local people and visitors to the area.

The proposal will result in the loss of an area of public open space to the south of the site. In order to mitigate this the applicant has agreed to enter into a s.106 agreement which will provide free tickets to local residents up to the value of £44,990.

On balance, the social impacts of the development weigh in favour of the development.

#### The Environmental role

With respect to the environmental role, there is limited space within the site to provide a biodiversity net gain. Therefore, in line with the Councils Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing SPD, the applicant has agreed to provide a contribution of £25 per square metre of offsite ecology gains to the equivalent of the required 10% net gain.

It is concluded that the environmental impacts of the development weigh neutrally within the planning balance.

# **Sustainability Conclusion**

Having regard to the above assessment the proposed development is considered to represent sustainable development.

Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues

Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance.

Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and Section 149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities. Protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and sexual orientation.

### **Planning Balance**

The planning assessment considers the policy and material considerations in detail. It

is considered that the scheme in terms of addressing the Development Plan aspiration

to provide improved tourism facilities.

**Conclusions and Reasons for Decision** 

The proposal would result in the improvement of the tourism offer currently available

on the site and provide additional jobs with minimal harm to the character of the area.

The proposal is considered to be acceptable, having regard to the Local Plan, Torquay

Neighbourhood Plan, and all other material considerations, subject to the completion

of a legal agreement and the use of planning conditions.

Officer Recommendation

Approval: Subject to;

1. The conditions outlined below, with the final drafting of conditions delegated to

the Assistant Director of Planning Housing and Climate Emergency;

2. The completion of a S106 Legal Agreement to secure the heads of terms

above, in accordance with the adopted Planning Contributions and Affordable

Housing Supplementary Planning Document, on terms acceptable to Officers.

The resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light following

Planning Committee to be delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning and Housing

and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further planning

conditions or obligations.

**Conditions** 

Flood Mitigation

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, the flood mitigation

measures identified in the flood risk assessment shall be undertaken in full and

retained for the lifetime of the development thereafter.

Page 51

Reason: In the interests of managing flood risk to occupiers in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, and to comply with Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Torbay Local Plan.

### Drainage

In accordance with the submitted flood risk assessment, surface water drainage shall be provided by means of soakaways within the site which shall comply with the requirements of BRE Digest 365 for the critical 1 in 100 year storm event plus 30% for climate change unless an alternative means of surface water drainage is submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development.

Reason: In the interests of adapting to climate change and managing flood risk, and in order to accord with saved Policy ER1 and ER2 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and the guidance contained in the NPPF."

#### Car Park Area and Access Road

Prior to the construction of the staff car park and access road hereby approved, the detailed design of the car park and the proposed access road to be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Council. The detailed design must demonstrate how the required gradient of land will be achieved and how this can be constructed in relation to the existing retaining structure adjacent to Goodrington Sands Railway Station. The approved car parking and access road details shall be fully implemented prior to the first use of the development hereby approved and retained as such for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To ensure adequate parking and access facilities are provided to serve the development in accordance with policy TA2 and TA3 (and associated appendix F) of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.

#### Cycle Storage

Prior to the first use of the development the approved details of cycle parking facilities shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority in writing. The approved cycle parking shall be made available prior to the first use of the development. Once

provided, the parking facilities shall be retained for the life of the development for such purposes.

Reason: In interests of amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1, DE3 and TA3 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy THW6 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan.

# **Charging Points**

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, details of electrical charging points to serve the new staff car park shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority. The approved charging points facilities shall be implemented in full prior to the first use of the development hereby approved and the approved facilities shall be maintained thereafter to serve the development.

Reason: To secure an appropriate form of development in accordance with Policies TA3 and SS14 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH9 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan.

## **Soft Landscaping**

All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season following the completion of the development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next available planting season with others of a similar size and the same species. The approved hard landscaping details shall be provided within six months of the development being brought into use and shall be retained for the life of the development.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.

#### **AMS and Tree Protection Plan**

No operations shall commence on site in connection with the development hereby approved, until a detailed Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) and Tree

Protection Plan (TPP) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved AMS and TPP shall be adhered to throughout the construction process.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and to prevent harm of trees in accordance with Policies C4 and DE1 of the Local Plan 2012-2030 and the guidance contained in the NPPF. These details are required pre-commencement to ensure appropriate mitigation at all stages of development.

#### **CEMP**

Prior to the commencement of development a Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The document will provide measures of construction controls on dust and reducing contaminated run-off. The development will be undertaken in strict accordance with the approved CEMP and pollution control measures.

Reason: To secure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with Policies SS2 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. This needs to be a precommencement condition to ensure appropriate mitigation at all stages of development.

### In Accordance with the Ecological Impact Assessment

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the actions set out in the Ecological Impact Assessment (Burton Reid Associates, March 2022). This condition will be discharged when a suitably qualified ecologist confirms to the Local Planning Authority in writing that the actions have been correctly implemented.

Reason: To secure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with Policies SS2 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.

#### **Bird Breeding Season**

No building demolition or vegetation clearance shall take place during the bird nesting season (01 March to 31 August, inclusive) unless the developer has been

advised by a suitably qualified ecologist that the clearance will not disturb nesting birds and a record of this kept.

Reason: To secure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with Policies SS2 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.

# **Badger Repeat Survey**

No more than 3 months prior to the commencement of any site works, a repeat survey for the presence of badgers on the site and surrounding suitable habitat shall take place and a report with associated mitigation/compensation measures, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the commencement of development. Development shall take place in accordance with the recommendations within the approved report.

Reason: To secure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with Policies SS2 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. This needs to be a precommencement condition to ensure appropriate ecological mitigation at all stages of development.

### **Boundary Treatment for Hedgehogs**

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, details of boundary features, including details of hedgehog holes shall be submitted for agreement with the LPA. The approved boundary features shall be installed with suitable mitigation for hedgehogs prior to the first use of the development and shall be retained as such for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To secure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with Policies SS2 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.

### Bin storage

Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, provision shall be made for the storage of refuse and recycling awaiting collection according to the approved details. Once provided, the approved storage arrangements shall be retained for the life of the development. Reason: In interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030

### **CMS**

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:

- a) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors.
- b) Loading and unloading of plant and materials.
- c) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development.
- d) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate.
- e) Wheel washing facilities.
- f) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction.
- g) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works, with priority given to reuse of building materials on site wherever practicable.
- h) Measures to minimise noise nuisance to neighbours from plant and machinery.
- i) Confirmation that the Local Highways Authority will be notified in advanced of any movements of larger vehicles, and that their access and egress to /from the site onto public highway is undertaken under the supervision of appropriately qualified banksmen.
- j) Construction working hours from 8:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday, 8:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

Reason: This information is required prior to commencement to safeguard the amenity of the locality in accordance with Policy DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030

### **Restriction on External Lighting**

No external lighting shall be installed at the application site at any time without the written permission of the Council. Any future lighting design must be provided in writing to the Council by an appropriately experienced ecologist and the approved scheme shall be retained as such throughout the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To ensure due protection is afforded to wildlife, in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and the NPPF

# **Relevant Policies**

Torbay Local Plan

DE1 – Design

ER1 - Flood Risk

ER2 – Water Management

ES1 - Energy

NC1 - Protected sites - internationally import

TO1 - Tourism, events and culture

TA2 - Development access

TA3 - Parking requirements

DE3 - Development Amenity

C4 - Trees, hedgerows and natural landscape

SS1 - Growth Strategy for a prosperous Torbay

SS4 - The economy and employment

SS8 - Natural Environment

SS9 – Green Infrastructure

SS11 - Sustainable Communities

SDP1 - Paignton

Paignton Neighbourhood Plan

PNP1 - Area wide

PNP25 – Clennon Valley